IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 23-ICA-148

ICA EFiled: Jul 07 2023

02:25PM EDT

Transaction ID 70326048

West Virginia Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation, Defendant below,

Petitioner,

v.

Francis Iacovone, individually and as Administrator of the Estate of Rocco Iacovone, Plaintiff Below,

Respondent.

Appeal from a trial in Circuit Court of Kanawha County (Case No. 20–C–602)

PETITIONER WEST VIRGINIA DIVISION OF CORRECTIONS AND REHABILITATION'S BRIEF

William E. Murray W. Va. State Bar I.D. 2693 Jaden P. Rhea W. Va. State Bar I.D. 13454

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The circuit court erred during the trial of this case; erred in denying Petitioner's Rule 59 Motion; and erred in entering the Judgment Order entered on December 16, 2022, and the Amended Judgment Order entered on March 10, 2023. Petitioner asserts the following assignments of error:

- I. Petitioner should have been permitted to examine and/or impeach Respondent's expert Dr. Charash regarding his prior allegations that Wexford was at fault;
- II. Petitioner should have been permitted to examine Respondent Francis Iacovone regarding prior allegations that Wexford was at fault;
- III. Respondent never disclosed Michael Hoosier and/or William Hardman as witnesses until two weeks before trial which was trial by ambush;
- IV. Petitioner's instruction regarding mitigation of damages should have been given to the jury;
- V. The jury was not instructed that they needed to determine that Mr. Iacovone suffered a "serious medical need" which is part of the deliberate indifference standard;
- VI. The Judgment Order entered on December 16, 2022, must be amended and altered because it is contrary to established law in the State of West Virginia; and
- VII. The Amended Judgment Order entered on March 10, 2023, was entered in error and is also contrary to established law in the State of West Virginia.

Petitioner respectfully moves this Court to reverse the circuit court's order denying Petitioner's Rule 59 Motion, vacate the Judgment Order entered on December 16, 2022 and the Amended Judgment Order entered on March 10, 2023, and remand for a new trial on these grounds.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Statement of Facts

Respondent Francis Iacovone ("Respondent"), acting as administrator of the estate of Rocco Iacovone, filed his Complaint against Petitioner West Virginia Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation ("Petitioner") alleging it is at fault for the death of Rocco Iacovone ("Mr. Iacovone"), an inmate previously incarcerated at the Huttonsville Correctional Center and Jail. (App. 7–20.) Specifically, Respondent alleged the Petitioner engaged in malicious conduct and violated the West Virginia Constitution. (App. 13–14.) Respondent also asserted claims against Petitioner for negligence in its hiring, retention, and supervision of employees and asserted other general negligence claims. (App. 15–19.)

Mr. Iacovone was diagnosed with a heart condition at birth and underwent multiple heart surgeries throughout his life. (App. 152–153.) However, Petitioner and its employees did not have access to Mr. Iacovone's medical records or have access to information about his chronic health condition because such sensitive patient health information is protected from being disclosed by HIPAA. (App. 159.) Mr. Iacovone died on August 28, 2018, while he was incarcerated Huttonsville Correctional Center and Jail due to what the medical examiner classified as acute bacterial endocarditis. (App. 1455.)

On Tuesday, August 28, 2018, Billy Green ("Mr. Green"), a correctional counselor at Huttonsville Correctional Center and Jail, was working in the control room of Mr. Iacovone's

dorm when Mr. Iacovone's cellmate came and told Mr. Green that Mr. Iacovone was not looking well. (App. 158–160.) Mr. Green then got a wheelchair from the control room, and Mr. Iacovone's cellmate helped Mr. Green get Mr. Iacovone into the wheelchair. (App 161.) Mr. Green observed that Mr. Iacovone was grey in color, and Mr. Green escorted Mr. Iacovone to medical by himself. (*Id.*) Mr. Green took Mr. Iacovone up to medical, pushed him into the observation room, and the officer assigned to medical and nurses came in. (App 162.) Mr. Green then returned to the control room in the pod. (App. 161.)

Earlier in the day, Mr. Green had seen Mr. Iacovone coming back from the shower and noted that Mr. Iacovone did not have his usual energy, but, again, Mr. Iacovone never alerted anyone to his illness himself or requested to go to medical. (*Id.*) At trial, Plaintiff was unable to present any evidence to show that Mr. Iacovone himself requested to go to medical. (App. 1013.) In fact, former inmate William Hardman ("Hardman") testified that Mr. Iacovone did not want to go to medical on Monday, August 27, which was one day before Mr. Iacovone's death. (App. 1021–1022.) There was also a dispute over whether Mr. Iacovone walked to the shower unassisted or whether Hardman asked C.O. Timothy Kittle to get medical assistance for Mr. Iacovone in the days prior to his death. (App. 997–1002.)

II. Procedural History

Prior to trial, Defendants Wexford Health Sources, Inc. ("Wexford") and David Allen Proctor, D.O. were dismissed as parties to this case. (App. 346–347, 375–376.) Wexford settled its claims with Respondent prior to trial, (App. 375–376), and Dr. Proctor was voluntarily dismissed, (App. 346–347). Next, a jury trial was held in this case beginning on November 14, 2022. At trial, Respondent agreed to the dismissal of the following counts: Count II claim for malicious conduct, Count III for violations of the West Virginia Constitution, Count VI for negligent hiring, retention, and supervision, and Count VII for violations of the Freedom of

information Act. (App. 1230–1233.) Only Count IV for negligence and Count V for vicarious lability were submitted to the jury. (App. 1233–1234.) In order to overcome Petitioner's qualified immunity, Respondent relied on the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment and submitted that question to the jury. (App. 1233–1234.)

On November 17, 2022, the jury returned a verdict for Respondent Francis Iacovone, acting as administrator of the estate of Rocco Iacovone, in the amount of \$16,237.00 for funeral and burial expenses, \$400,000.00 for lost earning capacity, \$275,000.00 for lost household services, and \$20,000.00 for Rocco Iacovone's pain and suffering totaling \$711,237.00. (App. 1411–1412, 731–732.) The jury allocated no fault to Mr. Iacovone or Wexford and allocated 100% fault to Petitioner. (*Id.*) After the trial, both Respondent and Petitioner submitted separate proposed judgment orders and Petitioner filed an objection to Respondent's proposed order. (App. 455–484.) Further, the circuit court entered the Judgment On Jury Verdict order as submitted by Respondent on December 16, 2022. (App. 485.)

Next, on January 25, 2023, Petitioner filed its Rule 59 Motion asserting the same assignments of error raised here and moved for a new trial and to amend the Order entered on December 16, 2022, because it is contrary to established law. (App. 490–539.) Respondent filed a response to this Motion, (App. 541–582), and this motion was set for hearing on February 7, 2023, (App. 538). This Motion was denied, (App. 677–717), and the circuit court then entered an Amended Judgment Order on March 10, 2023. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred during the trial of this case as well as in its entry of both the Judgment Order and the Amended Judgment Order. Due to the five assignments of error which

occurred at trial and the two assignments of error related to the entry of the judgment orders, Petitioner was substantially prejudiced at trial and is subject to judgment orders that which are in violation of established law in the State of West Virginia.

First, at trial, the circuit court improperly limited the scope of cross-examination of Respondent's medical expert and key witness Dr. Charash and prohibited Petitioner from examining and/or impeaching him regarding his prior opinions in which he placed the entirety of the fault for Mr. Iacovone's death on Wexford, another defendant in this case who settled prior to trial. The circuit court deprived Petitioner of a meaningful cross-examination of Dr. Charash because the wrong standard was applied to limit cross too strictly within the scope of the direct examination. The circuit court prohibited Petitioner from cross-examining Dr. Charash regarding both the fault of Wexford and his prior inconsistent statements that Wexford, not Petitioner, was at fault for Mr. Iacovone's death. The circuit court went even further and prohibited Petitioner from mentioning Wexford at all during its examination to even allow Dr. Charash the opportunity to explain why his opinion has changed. This was reversible error because Petitioner was substantially prejudiced.

Second, the circuit court prohibited Petitioner from mentioning that Wexford was a prior defendant in this action and from examining Plaintiff Francis Iacovone regarding any prior allegations or statements he made regarding the fault of Wexford. Petitioner was clear that it did not want to introduce evidence regarding any type of settlement Wexford made with Respondent. Instead, Petitioner sought to impeach Respondent to the extent he blamed Petitioner entirely for the death of Mr. Iacovone because Respondent and others made prior allegations and statements regarding the fault of Wexford. This blocked Petitioner's ability to present its defense and undoubtedly was reversible error.

Third, the circuit court allowed Respondent to conduct an evidentiary deposition of Michael Hoosier on November 10, 2022, and to call William Hardman as a witness in the trial of this matter despite the fact that Respondent chose to never disclose these individuals as witnesses in this case during the course of discovery. Petitioner was surprised and ambushed by these two witnesses and the admission of this evidence was prejudicial and reversible error.

Fourth, the Court should have given Petitioner's mitigation of damages jury instruction and the failure to give this instruction was reversible error. Based on this precedent, Petitioner's mitigation instruction was a correct statement of the law and the jury should have been given an instruction stating that Mr. Iacovone had a duty to himself ask for medical care and to seek help to treat his own illness. Further, the failure to give this instruction seriously impaired Petitioner's ability to assert its comparative negligence defense. The jury should have been instructed that Mr. Iacovone's decision not to seek medical care was a breach of his own duty. There was no guidance to the jury in the charge that Mr. Iacovone had any duty to himself or that he had a duty to seek medical care for himself. This instructional error is sufficient enough to warrant a reversal of the verdict and to grant a new trial.

Fifth, the circuit court rejected Petitioner's deliberate indifference jury instruction and used Respondent's instructions only. However, the Court failed to instruct the jury that they must find by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Iacovone needed medical care for a serious medical need in order to find that Petitioner was deliberately indifferent. This is a well-established part of the deliberate indifference standard and is reversible error.

Sixth, the Judgment Order entered on December 16, 2022, awarded Respondent prejudgment interest contrary to established law in the State of West Virginia, begins post-judgment interest from the date of the jury verdict which is contrary to the language of West

Virginia Code § 56–6–31, and awards varying interest rates on the prejudgment interest from 2018 to 2022 which is also contrary to West Virginia Code § 56–6–31. Finally, the Amended Judgment On Jury Verdict Order entered on March 10, 2023, seeks prejudgment interest contrary to established law in the State of West Virginia, seeks to begin post-judgment interest from the date of the Amended Judgment On Jury Verdict which is contrary to the language of West Virginia Code § 56–6–31, and improperly allows post-judgment interest on the award of prejudgment interest. For these reasons, Petitioner respectfully moves this Court to reverse the circuit court's order denying Petitioner's Rule 59 Motion, vacate the Judgment Order entered on December 16, 2022 and the Amended Judgment Order entered on March 10, 2023, and remand for a new trial.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner asserts that that oral argument is necessary and appropriate, pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Petitioner asserts that this matter may be appropriate for memorandum decision pursuant to Rule 21(d).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Although the ruling of a trial court in granting or denying a motion for a new trial is entitled to great respect and weight, the trial court's ruling will be reversed on appeal when it is clear that the trial court has acted under some misapprehension of the law or the evidence." Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Vance*, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Andrews v. Reynolds Mem'l Hosp.*, *Inc.*, 201 W. Va. 624, 499 S.E.2d 846 (1997)). Further,

[i]n reviewing challenges to findings and rulings made by a circuit court, we apply a two-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review.

ARGUMENT

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR I: Petitioner should have been permitted to examine and/or impeach Respondent's expert Dr. Charash regarding his prior allegations that Wexford was at fault.

At trial, the circuit court improperly limited the scope of Petitioner's cross-examination of Respondent's medical expert and key witness Dr. Charash and prohibited Petitioner from examining him and/or impeaching him regarding his prior opinions in which he placed the entirety of the fault for Mr. Iacovone's death on Wexford. Respondent raised this assignment of error when it occurred at trial, (App. 1214–1225), and in its Rule 59 Motion, (App. 491).

In this case, Wexford settled with Respondent before trial, but Petitioner sought to allocate fault to Wexford pursuant to W. Va. Code § 55–7–13d(a)(2), which states that "[f]ault of a nonparty shall be considered if the plaintiff entered into a settlement agreement with the nonparty" Further, "[w]here a plaintiff has settled with a party or nonparty before verdict, that plaintiff's recovery will be reduced in proportion to the percentage of fault assigned to the settling party or nonparty, rather than by the amount of the nonparty's or party's settlement . . .

"W. Va. Code § 55–7–13d(a)(3). This was one of Petitioner's central theories and main defenses at trial, and Petitioner sought to cross–examine Dr. Charash regarding his prior statements that Wexford was at fault for the death of Mr. Iacovone, which was inconsistent and contrary to his testimony at trial.

The West Virginia Supreme Court has "recognized that as a general rule the scope of cross-examination is within the discretion of the trial court and usually limited to matters brought out on direct. However, a trial court may not control the scope of cross-examination so far as to

prejudice the defendant." State v. Jenkins, 176 W. Va. 652, 656, 346 S.E.2d 802, 807 (1986). In addition,

Several basic rules exist as to cross examination of a witness. The first is that the scope of cross examination is coextensive with, and limited by, the material evidence given on direct examination. The second is that a witness may also be cross examined about matters affecting his credibility. The term "credibility" includes the interest and bias of the witness, inconsistent statements made by the witness and to a certain extent the witness' character. The third rule is that the trial judge has discretion as to the extent of cross examination.

Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Barnett*, 226 W. Va. 422, 701 S.E.2d 460 (2010). Further, with regard to impeachment, the West Virginia Supreme Court has held that:

Generally, after a proper foundation has been laid, a witness may be impeached by evidence of his declarations or statements which are either inconsistent or contradictory to his testimony at trial. The fact that he has stated the matters differently on a previous occasion tends to demonstrate either a failure of memory, or a lack of integrity, and in either event it weakens and impairs the value of his testimony.

State v. Spadafore, 159 W. Va. 236, 245, 220 S.E.2d 655, 661 (1975). Further, "prior statements made under oath in a judicial atmosphere either by deposition or at a prior trial and which have been subject to cross-examination by the defendant's counsel are admissible for the truth of the matter asserted" *Id.* at 664. Finally,

[t]he prior statement, no matter the form, must be inconsistent with the witness's trial testimony. Direct inconsistency is not required. The test for any inconsistency is whether the prior statement or omission has a reasonable tendency to discredit the testimony of the witness. To fulfill the necessary requirement of inconsistency, the [***14] witness's statements need not be explicitly contradictory, e.g., "the light was red" versus "the light was green." On the other hand, the testifying witness may even be impeached with prior statements that are inconsistent with the "impression" the witness's testimony creates.

State v. Scarbro, 229 W. Va. 164, 169,727 S.E.2d 840, 845 (2012) (quoting Franklin D. Cleckley, Handbook On Evidence For West Virginia Lawyers, Vol. 1, § 6-9(B)(5), p. 6-179 (2000).)

Here, the circuit court both improperly limited the scope of cross-examination and also prohibited Petitioner from introducing the witness's prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. (App. 1214–1225.) At trial, the circuit court never considered the law governing the admission of a witness's prior inconsistent statements. See Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Blake, 197 W. Va. 700, 478 S.E.2d 550 (1996). The circuit court deprived Petitioner of a meaningful cross-examination of Dr. Charash because the wrong standard was applied to limit cross examination too strictly within the scope of the direct examination. The circuit court held that this line of questioning was not impeachment or within the scope of crossexamination. The circuit court held this was instead related to the standard of care provided by Wexford and not causation or liability, which Respondent stated was the purpose of this witness, and was outside the scope of the direct examination. (App. 1225.) The circuit court held that cross examination was limited to the "timeline of [Mr. Iacovone's] infection," and Petitioner was further prohibited from mentioning Wexford at all during Dr. Charash's cross-examination. (App. 1225). Petitioner was prohibited from mentioning Wexford by name at all and from questioning Dr. Charash regarding his prior testimony where he placed all the blame for Mr. Iacovone's death on Wexford alone. (App. 1225.) This was incredibly prejudicial.

Dr. Charash testified at trial that Petitioner was solely at fault for Mr. Iacovone's death, which is in direct contrast with his deposition testimony. In fact, Respondent's counsel classified the purpose of Dr. Charash's testimony during his direct examination and stated "you've been retained in this case to give an opinion on causation, whether or not the liability and the misconduct on the part of the Department of Corrections caused the death of Rocco Iacovone." (App. 1208.) Then, Dr. Charash testified at trial "with reasonable medical certainty" that Mr. Iacovone would have been alive today if Petitioner's staff would have taken him to medical at

10:30 a.m. on Monday the day before his death. (App. 1208–1209.) Dr. Charash further testified that Mr. Iacovone would have had a 90 to 95 percent chance of survival if he had received medical attention on the Sunday before he died. (App. 1212.) He further testified that Mr. Iacovone would have had a 50 to 55 percent chance of survival if he would have received medical attention at 7:00 a.m. on the day he died. (App. 1212–1213.) Dr. Charash never mentioned Wexford in his direct examination at trial and instead stated that Petitioner's failure to get Mr. Iacovone medical care wholly caused his death.

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