### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**DOCKET NO. 23-ICA-148** 

ICA EFiled: Aug 21 2023 04:25PM EDT

**Transaction ID 70683720** 

## WEST VIRGINIA DIVISION OF CORRECTIONS AND REHABILITATION, Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

Appeal From Circuit Court of Kanawha County Trial Civil Action No. 20-C-602

FRANCIS IACOVONE, individually, and as Administrator of the Estate of ROCCO IACOVONE, Plaintiff Below,

Respondent.

# RESPONSE BRIEF ON BEHALF OF FRANCIS IACOVONE, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF ROCCO IACOVONE

W. Jesse Forbes (WVSB# 9956)
Jennifer N. Taylor (WVSB# 4612)
FORBES LAW OFFICES, PLLC
1118 Kanawha Blvd. East
Charleston, WV 25301

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Respondent called as a trial witness Dr. David Proctor, the Medical Director at Huttonsville. Counsel for Petitioner had the opportunity to examine Dr. Proctor in depth about the actions of Wexford, but failed to do so. He also chose not to call Dr. Proctor as his own witness, nor did he present any other evidence regarding the fault of Wexford.

Regardless of the semantics, Petitioner received the full benefit of *W.Va. Code §* 55-7-13d(a)(3) and (6) when it proposed, and the trial court accepted, the special jury verdict form that required the jury to make specific findings, indicating the percentage of the total fault allocated to each party and nonparty. The jury had the opportunity to consider and allocate fault among Rocco Iacovone, Wexford, and the WVDCR – and found the Petitioner to be 100% at fault. Petitioner could have called any number of witnesses to present a theory of liability against Wexford; chose not to do so; and only now complains about the result of its own failures.

The trial court properly limited the cross-examination of Dr. Charash to the material evidence given during Respondent's direct examination of the witness. Dr. Charash was offered solely for the purpose of determining the time-line of the illness of Mr. Iacovone, and his inability to obtain timely medical assistance. Dr. Charash was not asked at trial to give an opinion on liability or on the standard of care for anyone, especially Wexford.

The Circuit Court did not err in prohibiting attempted impeachment of Dr. Charash through the use of other opinions he may have rendered during his deposition that were not presented in his direct testimony, especially those regarding Wexford, who was no longer a part of the case. The opinions which Petitioner attempted to use were not relevant to the issue of causation of negligence by WVDCR as presented by the direct testimony. Respondent called Dr. Charash solely as a causation witness. Had Petitioner wished to present expert testimony and provide opinions on medical negligence by Wexford, it was free to do so in its own presentation. However, to attempt to go beyond the scope of direct and beyond the opinions presented by Respondent's expert in cross would have been improper, and the trial court rightly prohibited the same. The Court correctly found that it would have been improper and confusing for WVDCR to put such issues into the trial through a witness Respondent called for the limited purpose of causation.

The trial court also correctly precluded Petitioner from seeking to impeach the expert witness by bringing in prior deposition testimony of Dr. Charash regarding Wexford employees, and the administration of Motrin and antibiotics to Mr. Iacovone, none of which was relevant to the issue of causation. Those statements were made regarding the negligence of Wexford, not WVDCR, and were made prior to the settlement with Wexford. At trial, Dr. Charash opined nothing about Wexford.<sup>8</sup>

The fact that Dr. Charash offered opinions on several issues during his deposition did not render his testimony at trial lacking in credibility or reliability. Dr. Charash did **not** testify at trial that Petitioner WVDCR was "solely at fault for Mr. Iacovone's death." (JA0492, JA0493-JA0494). He was never asked that question at trial, and never made such a statement in his deposition. Dr. Charash's opinion at trial, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, was that if Mr. Iacovone had received medical attention and antibiotic treatment earlier, he would have lived. (JA1212-JA1213). "I'm just saying if he were recognized, he'd be alive." (JA1214). In fact, in answering a question from counsel for Petitioner, Dr. Charash confirmed that he was not there to pass judgment on the testimony of any other witness in the case. (JA1215)

The trial testimony of Dr. Charash was not any different from his deposition testimony; causation was just one of several issues that caused Dr. Charash concern. The first issue was that no one warned Mr. Iacovone about the dangers of his taking Motrin given his medical condition. (JA1504). Secondly, Dr. Charash noted the "kind of mess of complete information" and lack of documentation in the medical records of Mr. Iacovone, which did address the proper standard of

<sup>8</sup> As determined by the jury, the delay in taking Mr. Iacovone to the medical unit had nothing whatsoever to do with Wexford, or whether he took Motrin, antibiotics, or any other medicines. Petitioner's attempts to insert such irrelevant information does nothing but obfuscate the clear liability for deliberate indifference that the jury attributed solely to WVDCR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Motrin issue was later raised at trial, and Dr. Charash confirmed his concerns as noted in his deposition.

care of the medical providers working for Wexford. (JA1504). His final concern was "whether or not his deterioration was both noticed and handled in a timely manner" by Petitioner WVDCR, which was the main issue at trial. (JA1505). None of the deposition opinions given by Dr. Charash constitute a prior inconsistent statement as to the causation issue or the time-line of events,

Three requirements must be satisfied before admission at trial of a prior inconsistent statement: (1) the statement actually must be inconsistent, but there is no requirement that the statement be diametrically opposed; (2) if the statement comes in the form of extrinsic evidence as opposed to oral cross-examination of the witness to be impeached, the area of impeachment must pertain to a matter of sufficient relevancy and the explicit requirements of the applicable rule – notice and an opportunity to explain or deny – must be met; and, (3) the jury must be instructed that the evidence is admissible only to impeach the witness and not as evidence of a material fact. Rule 613, *W.Va. Rules of Evidence*; *State v. Guthrie*, 518 S.E.2d 83, 92, 205 W.Va. 326 (1999); *State v. Blake*, 197 W.Va. 700, 478 S.E.2d 550 (1996).

For an allegedly prior inconsistent statement to be admitted for impeachment of the trial testimony of a witness, the statement must be a prior inconsistent statement of the witness; the witness must be afforded opportunity to explain or deny having made the statement; and the opposing party must be afforded the opportunity to interrogate the witness concerning the statement. *State v. Carrico*, 437 S.E.2d 474, 189 W.Va. 40 (1993).

A prior statement must be relevant to the present testimony, and not be used as a means of introducing otherwise inadmissible evidence. The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals specifically held that such a sleight of hand was not permissible in a case where it excluded a rape victim's false statement to medical providers because it was merely a guise by the defendant to imply that the victim was not chaste:

At best however, this evidence was only marginally relevant as impeachment evidence because there was no testimony regarding the alleged false statement Mrs. Guthrie made to hospital officials concerning prior sexual intercourse. Rather, the true impact of the evidence was to prejudice the State by showing that Mrs. Guthrie had sexual intercourse with other men while she was married.

State v. Guthrie, 518 S.E.2d at 96 (emphasis added.)

In the present matter, the Circuit Court did consider the law governing the admission of a witness's prior inconsistent statements, and properly found that Petitioner's proposed line of questioning was not relevant and not related to the standard of care or liability of Petitioner. The trial court did not err when it prevented Petitioner from attempting to impeach Dr. Charash through his deposition testimony regarding other parties or issues. Dr. Charash's opinion in his deposition regarding causation and the deliberate indifference of WVDCR was identical to the opinion he gave at trial and was not in any manner false or inconsistent. The opinions Dr. Charash rendered during his deposition on other matters, including the medical negligence of Wexford, were not false, nor were they relevant to the remaining issues that were presented to the jury. His deposition testimony did not constitute prior inconsistent statements nor any basis for attacking his credibility.

Offering Dr. Charash's deposition transcript for the truth of the matter asserted would not have demonstrated any lack of credibility, but would have resulted in undue prejudice to Respondent. While the deposition testimony would have confirmed Dr. Charash's opinion as to causation, it would have confused the jury and gone beyond the purpose for which Respondent called the expert witness. Such cross-examination would have allowed Petitioner to deliberately conflate the moot opinion regarding the standard of care applied to Wexford with the causation opinion regarding the failure to notice and respond to Mr. Iacovone's symptoms. This would have resulted in consideration of irrelevant, if not "marginally relevant" evidence, at best. The true impact of the prior testimony would be to suggest to the jury that there was a settlement with

another defendant, Wexford. (JA1216-1217). The Circuit Court properly limited the scope of Petitioner's cross-examination, and correctly prohibited Petitioner from using the irrelevant, prejudicial deposition testimony of Dr. Charash to purportedly attack his credibility. Petitioner certainly could have developed a contention that Wexford was at fault in its own case-in-chief, but failed to do so in any way whatsoever.

Petitioner was not deprived of a "meaningful cross-examination of Dr. Charash," nor did Petitioner suffer any prejudice by the Circuit Court's rulings. Petitioner speculates that allowing it to attack the credibility of Dr. Charash could have changed the outcome of the trial because his opinion would have been weakened and impaired his value with the jury, but offers nothing in fact or law to support that position. Petitioner's later argument that the inmate witnesses were the key witnesses to the case negates its position in the present argument that Dr. Charash was the crucial witness. Moreover, Petitioner could have called its own expert, but failed to do so.

The Circuit Court did not err in limiting the cross-examination of Respondent's expert witness, and further did not err in denying the use of his deposition testimony as a means of impeachment. The Petitioner's appeal on these issues should therefore be **DENIED**.

## II. The Trial Court Properly Limited Cross-Examination of a Lay Witness Regarding Fault and Settlement With the Dismissed Medical Provider.

The Circuit Court did not err in prohibiting Petitioner from mentioning the prior settlement with Wexford or from asking Plaintiff/Respondent Francis Iacovone about his claims against the medical provider. Francis Iacovone was the father of Rocco Iacovone, was not named as an expert witness, had no medical training, and therefore could not render an opinion on fault or causation. The Petitioner's anticipated questioning of him about the settlement with Wexford was not an attack on the witness's credibility, but rather an additional effort to disclose to the jury the resolved

medical negligence claims against Wexford. When asked by the trial court to provide authority for presenting such evidence to the jury, counsel for Petitioner could not do so. (JA1234).

Respondent did not present Francis Iacovone as a witness at trial, and did not offer his deposition testimony. Petitioner did not call Mr. Iacovone as witness, nor did it offer his deposition, despite being free to do so. As such, Petitioner missed its opportunity to attempt to lay a foundation and revisit the Court's rulings, and its supposedly anticipated cross was moot.<sup>10</sup>

The Circuit Court considered Petitioner's efforts at length, and, in its discretion, correctly decided the cross-examination would be limited to the sole issue of the deliberate indifference by WVDCR as presented by Respondent. The trial court also properly found that Petitioner's questions of Respondent Francis Iacovone as to fault and the settlement with Wexford were improper, prejudicial, and confusing. (JA1232, 1235).

Petitioner's anticipated line of questioning was an attempt to introduce highly prejudicial evidence that is absolutely prohibited under West Virginia law:

### Compromise offers and negotiations.

- (a) **Prohibited Uses**. Evidence of the following is not admissible—on behalf of any party—either to prove or disprove the validity or amount of a disputed claim, the liability of a party in a disputed claim, or to impeach by a prior inconsistent statement or a contradiction:
- (1) furnishing, promising, or offering—or accepting, promising to accept, or offering to accept—a valuable consideration in compromising or attempting to compromise the claim; and
- (2) conduct or a statement made during compromise negotiations about the claim. Rule 408, W.Va. Rules of Evidence.

The decision of whether to admit evidence of compromise offers for a purpose other than to prove liability for or invalidity of a claim is within the sound discretion of the circuit court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As noted previously, Francis Iacovone has dementia and was not able to testify at trial. (JA1246).

Franklin D. Cleckley, *Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers* § 4-8(F), at 402 (3d ed. 1994) If evidence of a settlement is offered for another purpose, the court has discretion to admit it. See, *Bituminous Constr., Inc. v. Rucker Enters., Inc.*, 816 F.2d 965, 968-69 (4th Cir.1987); *Belton v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 724 F.2d 500, 505 (5th Cir.1984); *Lively v. Rufus*, 207 W.Va. 436, 533 S.E.2d 662.

Petitioner had several opportunities to delve more into the actions or inactions of Wexford through other witnesses, and failed to do so. Dr. David Proctor, the Wexford physician and Medical Director of Huttonsville, testified at the trial regarding his employment with Wexford and the contract for medical services that Wexford had with WVDCR. (JA1039-JA1040). Dr. Proctor testified about the number of Wexford employees at Huttonsville in 2018 and the number of employees on staff the day that Rocco Iacovone died. (JA1041-JA1045). Counsel for Petitioner had the opportunity to elicit testimony from Dr. Proctor that might have allowed the jury to conclude that Dr. Proctor/Wexford knew about Mr. Iacovone's medical history and the fact that he was sick, but failed to properly treat or advise him. Petitioner never took advantage of these opportunities, and should not be permitted to complain now.

Petitioner's efforts to allude to the liability of Wexford through a lay witness was not a proper method of impeaching Respondent Francis Iacovone. Mr. Iacovone did not testify in his deposition that he believed that Wexford was at fault; he merely testified that his son had a right to health care, which would imply criticism only of WVDCR, since Wexford has no constitutional duties. None of that testimony could have been used for impeachment purposes, nor was it necessary since the jury heard from Dr. Proctor and Dr. Kerns regarding the medical treatment provided by Wexford. Despite knowledge of Dr. Kerns' prior deposition testimony, Petitioner did not seek to present any additional portions of that video deposition to the jury that would have

supported its efforts to spread the liability in this matter. The efforts of Petitioner were again merely subversive means of implying to the jury that (1) there was another defendant, and (2) Respondent must have settled with said defendant.

Petitioner's reliance on *W.Va. Code* § 55-7-13d(a)(2) was never raised at the trial below, nor was it noted in the motion for a new trial. Therefore, that argument should not be considered now. The law requires that "a party must alert a tribunal as to perceived defects at the time such defects occur," and if the tribunal is not so alerted, the appellate court will not consider an error which was not properly preserved in the record nor apparent on the face of the record. *Hanlon v. Logan Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, 201 W. Va. 305, 315, 496 S.E.2d 447, 457 (1997); *State v. Browning*, 199 W. Va. 417, 425, 485 S.E.2d 1, 9 (1997). The motions, memoranda, instructions, and transcripts of argument in this matter do not reveal a single instance when Petitioner raised the requirements of *W.Va. Code* § 55-7-13d(a)(2).

Assuming, arguendo, that review of said statute is appropriate, Petitioner's insistence that sub-paragraph (2) required consideration of the Wexford settlement is rendered moot by the application of sub-paragraphs (3) and (6) of the statute, which provides, in part:

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